CASE NO. SC01-2480 LOWER COURT CASE NO. 91-756 CF

ALFRED LEWIS FENNIE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER Florida Bar No. 0320234 Capital Collateral Counsel -Northern Region

JOHN J. JACKSON Florida Bar No. 0993476 Assistant CCRC-N 1533-B South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 488-7200

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 27, 1991, the grand jury in and for Hernando County returned an indictment charging Mr. Fennie with one count of first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), one count of armed kidnaping in violation of Section 787.01(1), Florida Statutes (1991) and one count of robbery with a firearm in violation of Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991). (R.20-21) Mr. Fennie proceeded to jury trial on the charges on November 5-13, 1992. Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Mr. Fennie guilty as charged on all counts. (R.1925; R384-387) After the penalty phase, the jury returned a unanimous recommendation for death. (R.2150-2151; R389)

Mr. Fennie filed a timely motion for new trial, (R.424-426), which was denied.(R.507, 522) On December 1, 1992, Mr. Fennie appeared for sentencing, and the trial court adjudicated him guilty on all counts and sentenced him to death for the first degree murder count and consecutive life sentences for the remaining two counts. (R.529-545, 442-466) Mr. Fennie filed a timely notice of appeal on December 10, 1992. (R.495-496) On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Fennie's conviction and sentences, including his sentence of death. <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1994). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari in the case. <u>Fennie v.</u> Florida ,115 S.C. 1120 (1995).

Mr. Fennie filed timely but incomplete Rule 3.850 motions

on March 19, 1997, and April 22, 1997. (PCR. 163-204; 362-540) Mr. Fennie filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion<sup>1</sup> on March 22, 2000. (PCR. 2267-2445) The State responded to the amended motion on May 17, 2000. (PCR. 2642-2680) Mr. Fennie filed limited amendments to his amended Rule 3.850 motion on June 26, October 20, and November 13, 2000. (PCR. 2727; 2848; 2894) The State responded to the amendments on November 20, 2000. (PCR. 2901; 2909) Hearings were held pursuant to <u>Huff v.</u> <u>State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), on August 18, 2000, and December 8, 2000. (PCR. 2918; 3071)

On February 12, 2001, the lower court ordered an evidentiary hearing on five claims<sup>2</sup>. The evidentiary hearing

2 The claims were as follows: a) whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to question potential jurors during voir dire regarding alleged racial tension in the area where Mr. Fennie's trial was held, as well as other racial aspects relevant to the case and, included as sub-issues, whether individual voir dire should have been a part of any such questioning; and, whether Defendant's trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by allegedly failing to request a change of venue in this case; b) whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance during the guilt phase proceedings of Mr. Fennie's trial; c) whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance during the penalty phase proceedings of Mr. Fennie's trial; d) whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation of Defendant before the time of Defendant's trial, and whether trial counsel was ineffective failing to obtain other expert assistance in this case; and, e) whether the actions of trial counsel prevented Defendant testifying at his trial. (PCR. 3143-55)

<sup>1</sup> Along with this amendment, Mr. Fennie filed a Notice of Intent to Interview Jurors. (PCR. 2446-48) The lower court refused to allow Mr. Fennie to interview the jurors. (PCR. 2458)

was held June 4-7, 2001. (PC-T. 1-862) The lower court denied Mr. Fennie relief on all claims. (PCR. 3613-3630)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## THE TRIAL

The following testimony was presented at Mr. Fennie's trial. On Sunday, September 8, 1991, Joseph Evans and his brother-in-law Bob Duckett were driving in the area of Ridge Manor in Hernando County. (R.978-980) As they drove on Highway 301, north of Highway 50, they came across a woman lying on the side of the road face down. (R.980) The woman had a bullet wound to the back of her head. (R.1027, 1044) No physical evidence was found near the body. (R.1031, 1047, 1049, 1051) The body was eventually identified through fingerprint comparison and determined to be Mary Strickland Shearin. (R.1086-1088) At trial, the medical examiner testified that the victim lost consciousness immediately upon being shot. (R.1113) The medical examiner also testified that she found no physical indication of forced sexual intercourse. (R.1118)

John Shearin, the victim's husband, testified that on the night of September 7, 1991, his wife left the house between 7:00 and 8:00 p.m. (R.1144-1146) Mary arrived back home at 3:00 a.m., stayed 15 minutes, and left again. (R.1146) At trial, the State also presented the testimony of Linda Browning, supervisor of the research department of the Tampa Bay Credit Union. Ms. Browning testified that in reviewing

the records of the victim's account, she found two transactions on September 8, 1991, using the victim's ATM card. (R.1699-1704) The final transaction was a \$30.00 withdrawal at 3:18 a.m. on September 8, 1991. (R.1706)

After the police spoke with Mr. Shearin, a BOLO was issued for the victim's vehicle and on the evening of September 9, 1991, Sergeant Lou Potengiano of the Tampa Police Department observed a vehicle matching the description on the north side of Bexley's BBQ on the corner of 28<sup>th</sup> Avenue and 22<sup>nd</sup> Street in Tampa. (R.1155) Deputy Tim Whitfield processed the vehicle and found a .25 caliber Raven Arms firearm with a clip in place under the mat in the front of the car. (R.1179-1180) Although the firearm was processed for fingerprints, no usable prints were lifted. (R.1182-1183)

The two men found in the vehicle were taken into custody without incident. (R.1158) The driver of the automobile gave his name as Ezell Foster and the passenger gave his name as Ansell Rose. (R.1159) At trial, Rose testified that he happened to be with Mr. Foster (Fennie) at the time of the arrest because he had been at Bexley's BBQ looking for a ride home. (R.1278). At the intersection of 22<sup>nd</sup> Street and Hillsborough Avenue, Mr. Fennie turned left, took a small gun from behind him, and put it on the floor. (R.1285) When they got to Nebraska Avenue, the police ordered them to stop and get out of the car. (R.1287) As they got out of the car, Mr. Fennie tried to push the gun under the mat on the floor.

(R.1288)

At trial, detectives involved in the investigation testified that they interviewed the man known as Ezell Foster, Jr. (R.1244-1246) Foster gave a two-hour statement and midway through, Foster told Kramer that his real name was Alfred Lewis Fennie. (R.1260) During the statement (as well as subsequent statements), Mr. Fennie insisted that he did not kill the woman. (R.1263; 1329) Mr. Fennie first told the detectives that an individual named "Eric" had killed the victim and that, although he did not see "Eric" kill the woman, he stated that he (Mr. Fennie) did not kill anyone. (R.1329) Mr. Fennie later identified "Eric" as co-defendant Frazier and then identified Frazier from a photo pack. Fennie told the police that Frazier abducted the victim, forced Fennie to drive the victim north to a deserted road in Hernando county, and, after Frazier and the woman were out of sight, Mr. Fennie heard Frazier yell "Bitch, you bit me," and then heard a gunshot. (R.1365) Frazier returned to the car and told Mr. Fennie to start driving. (R.1365) Mr. Fennie then observed that Frazier had been bitten on his hand and. when Mr. Fennie asked where the victim was, Frazier said he was going to "Make the bitch walk home." (R.1365) Mr. Fennie also told the detectives that Frazier's girlfriend, Ms. Regina Rogers, had a ring belonging to the victim and, when the detectives attempted to verify Appellant's statements, they learned that Ms. Rogers did in fact have the ring. (R.1384)

When co-defendant Frazier was arrested, the detectives also observed that he had a bite mark on his right hand which he was trying to hide. (R. 1388; 1432-1435)

The day before Mr. Fennie's trial began, the prosecutor announced that co-defendant Frazier would be testifying for the State.( R. 15) Counsel for Mr. Fennie announced to the trial court on the first day of trial that he was unprepared to go to trial due to Frazier suddenly becoming a witness for the State. (R. 15) Mr. Fennie's counsel admitted to the trial court that the defense had not anticipated a co-defendant testifying for the State and moved for a continuance because he was unprepared to go to trial (R. 15-17). The trial court found that defense counsel was aware for two months that the State was attempting to convince one of the co-defendants to testify, had no legitimate reason for not deposing witnesses regarding statements made by Frazier, and ultimately denied the continuance. (R. 17-18; 32-33)

At trial, co-defendant Frazier testified that in September of 1991, he was living with his cousin Pamela Colbert who had been dating Mr. Fennie for approximately twelve years. (R.1462-1463) A couple of weeks before his arrest, Frazier saw a firearm in his cousin's house. (R.1470-1471) This was the same firearm that he saw on the day of the incident at hand. (R.1471) Shortly after midnight on September 8, 1991, Frazier bumped into Mr. Fennie at the River View Terrace projects and told him that he desperately needed

б

money. (R.1472-1473) According to co-defendant Frazier, Mr. Fennie suggested to him that they go to the corner of Florida Avenue and Broad Street and try to get some money. (R.1473) They stood on the corner for approximately forty-five minutes, at which time a white woman drove up in a cream-colored Cadillac. (R.1474)

Frazier testified that Mr. Fennie got into the car with the victim, pulled a gun on the victim, and took control of her car. (R. 1474-75) Frazier further testified that after abducting the woman, Mr. Fennie told him to get into the victim's car, and they drove to the City Bank of Tampa at Buffalo and Armenia to try to get some money from the ATM. (R.1475) Frazier testified that Mr. Fennie then drove them to Pamela Colbert's house where they arrived shortly after 7:00 a.m. (R.1480) Frazier further testified that, upon reaching Hernando county, Mr. Fennie opened the trunk and hollered for Frazier to help him get the victim out of the trunk. (R.1490) Frazier reached in, the victim bit him on the hand. (R.1490) Frazier's hand was bleeding profusely so he got a towel out of the car. (R.1491)

At trial, Frazier admitted that he initially lied to the police and said he knew nothing about the incident. (R.1502) Frazier also admitted that he told the police that one of his cousin's children had bitten him. (R.1502) Frazier also admitted that he made money by selling cocaine and that often times he would jump into people's cars, get money, and then

leave, never giving the people the drugs. (R.1511)

The defense called no witnesses in the guilt phase of the trial. The jury found Mr. Fennie guilty on all charges. The State presented nothing during the penalty phase, instead choosing to rely on their guilt phase presentation. (R. 1946-49) The defense presented 10 witnesses during Mr. Fennie's penalty phase.

At the penalty phase, Annie Fennie, Mr. Fennie's mother, testified that she never married and Mr. Fennie's father was in fact married to someone else. (R.1951-1952) As Mr. Fennie grew up, they lived in the projects and he had no real friends. (R.1954) Mr. Fennie had asthma and breathing problems as he was growing up (R.1956), and he would often help his sister and her children. (R.1961).

Kathy Lewis Reed is Mr. Fennie's older sister. (R.1966) She testified in the penalty phase that before Mr. Fennie was arrested, he would come over often and check on her and her children. (R.1967) Ms. Reed remembered Michael Frazier coming by with rock cocaine, but knew that Mr. Fennie did no drugs. (R.1972-1973)

Erwin Ward, a rehabilitation counselor for the State of Florida, had known Mr. Fennie for sixteen years. (R.1980-1981) He testified that Mr. Fennie was a good mechanic and has always wanted to help Ward if he needed it. (R.1981) Ward has never known Mr. Fennie to be violent and is not the type to do violent crimes. (R.1983-1984) Denise Williams had

known Mr. Fennie for seven years (R.1988), and she had never known him to be violent. (R.1989) Melanie Simmons, who works for the Hillsborough County Home Base Program, met Mr. Fennie through his sister. (R.1995-1996) Mr. Fennie's sister had a daughter with cerebral palsy and Ms. Simmons had observed Mr. Fennie's interest with his niece. (R.1997)

Lastly, five correction officers at the Hernando County Jail testified that while Mr. Fennie was housed in their jail, he presented no discipline problem whatsoever. (R.2075, 2079, 2083, 2086, 2089) These officers believe that Mr. Fennie adjusted very well to incarceration and would present no discipline problem if he were to be incarcerated. (R.2076, 2081, 2083, 2086, 2089)

#### THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING

The evidentiary hearing was held June 4-7, 2001. Mr. Fennie presented the following witnesses: Trial Attorney Alan Fanter, William Salmon (Mr. Fennie's legal expert), Mr. Dwayne Jones, Dr. Ronald Peal (psychologist used by Mr. Fennie's trial attorneys), Dr. Jethro Toomer (psychologist), Ms. Pamela Colbert, Ms. Kathy Reed, Ms. Deborah Fennie, Ms. Yvonne Williams, and Trial Attorney Hugh Lee. The State presented one witness: Detective Carlos Douglas (Hernando County Sheriff's Office).

Fanter testified regarding the actions he did and did not take during the voir dire to prevent individuals from serving on the jury who would let race be a factor in their

deliberations. Fanter testified that he was aware that race was a factor in Mr. Fennie's trial, that he was aware of racial problems in the area where Mr. Fennie's trial was held, and that he would want to remove racist jurors from the panel. (PC-T. 27; 31-32) Despite this, Fanter testified that he had no real plan or strategy for confronting potential jurors with the racial issues present in Mr. Fennie's case. (PC-T. 32)

Mr. Fennie also presented the testimony of attorney William Salmon. The lower court accepted Mr. Salmon as a legal expert. (PC-T. 91) Mr. Salmon testified to the importance of having a strategy for questioning jurors on sensitive racial issues. (PC-T. 124) Mr. Salmon also testified to the even greater importance of questioning jurors on sensitive racial issues when the possibility exists that a penalty phase will occur. (PC-T. 126-7) Mr. Salmon also gave his expert opinion that, based on his review of the voir dire questioning performed at Mr. Fennie's trial, specifically the lack of questions regarding the racial issues involved in the case, Mr. Fennie's trial counsel was ineffective as a matter of law. (PC-T. 127-29)

Mr. Fanter was also questioned regarding his work in Mr. Fennie's guilt-phase<sup>3</sup>. Specifically, Mr. Fanter was

<sup>3</sup> Mr. Fennie had two trial attorneys: Alan Fanter and Hugh Lee. Mr. Fanter was primarily in charge of the guilt-phase of the trial, and Mr. Lee was in charge of the penalty-phase. (PC-T. 612; 748) The only exception was that Mr. Lee handled the questioning of co-defendant Frazier after the State informed the defense **the day before trial** that Frazier would

questioned regarding his failure to properly impeach witnesses (PC-T. 619-21; 633-637; 640-642), as well as his failure to call certain witnesses whose testimony would have cast doubt on the State's case, including the defendant himself (PC-T. 643-648; 648-655; 658-60).

Trial Attorney Hugh Lee also testified regarding his investigation of co-defendant Frazier's story to the police, as well as his questioning of Frazier during Mr. Fennie's guilt phase. Mr. Lee also testified regarding several missed opportunities to impeach Frazier's testimony, as well as missed opportunities to investigate both Frazier's and Mr. Fennie's version of events. (PC-T. 759-60; 764-66; 772-73)

Mr. Lee also provided testimony regarding his work in the penalty phase of Mr. Fennie's trial. Mr. Lee was questioned regarding the unexpected answers he got from Mr. Fennie's mother a trial. (PC-T. 751) Mr. Lee was asked about and unable to recall why he had not asked Mr. Fennie's sister or mother any questions regarding Mr. Fennie's tendency to avoid confrontation throughout his life. (PC-T. 752) Mr. Lee also testified that he *should have* put on lay witness testimony about Mr. Fennie being easily led and manipulated, compliant and easily dominated. (PC-T. 774) He also testified that if he had lay or expert testimony showing that Mr. Fennie could conform to a jail environment and wouldn't pose a threat to others in the future, he would have put that on as well. (PC-T.

be a State witness. (PC-T. 757)

776)

Mr. Dwayne Jones was presented at the hearing below. Mr. Jones testified regarding co-defendant Frazier's history of violence (especially when on drugs), Frazier's history with guns, Frazier's past crimes, and the fact that he had never known Mr. Fennie to be violent. (PC-T. 228; 230-33) Mr. Jones also stressed that he would have been willing to testify at Mr. Fennie's trial. (PC-T. 233; 234) Co-defendant Pamela Colbert also testified below that, at the time of Mr. Fennie's trial, she would have been willing to testify to a version of events different than what Frazier testified to, as well as the fact that she had never known Mr. Fennie to be violent. (PC-T. 445; 447; 449; 470-71; 472; 476; 491) She also testified below that she would have been willing to testify for Mr. Fennie at his penalty phase but was never approached by anyone regarding doing so. (PC-T. 448-49) Ms. Yvonne Williams also testified below regarding Mr. Fennie's kind nature, his non-violence, and the fact that he never carried a gun. (PC-T. 683-86; 690)

Dr. Ronald Peal, the psychologist who evaluated Mr. Fennie at trial, had testified at a penalty phase before, particularly as to a defendant's life history, and said that he would have done the same for Mr. Fennie. (PC-T. 259) Dr. Peal testified that the only conversation that he knew he had with trial attorney Fanter was the initial conversation retaining him, and that was reflected in a little handwritten note. (PC-T. 252) Dr. Peal never spoke with and

had never even heard of Hugh Lee (PC-T. 256), the man primarily responsible for Mr. Fennie's penalty phase (PC-T. 611; 748-9).

Dr. Jethro Toomer testified for Mr. Fennie at the hearing below. Dr. Toomer evaluated Mr. Fennie during postconviction and, unlike Dr. Peal, was provided with the background and corroborative materials necessary to provide opinions within a reasonable degree of medical certainty. (PC-T. 318) According to Dr. Toomer, Mr. Fennie has a personality disorder that "is characterized by dependant traits and a need for acceptance, and a need to be overly accommodating in order to satisfy his own personal deficits." (PC-T. 319) Dr. Toomer testified that Mr. Fennie is not a leader-type, but again one who acts in order to please those around him and increase the likelihood of his acceptance. (PC-T. 319) Dr. Toomer also concluded that Mr. Fennie was not at high risk for future violent behavior. (PC-T. 319)

Lastly, at the hearing below, Mr. Fennie presented the testimony of his sisters Kathy Reed and Deborah Fennie. Both of the sisters testified below regarding the harsh conditions they and Mr Fennie grew up in, as well as Mr. Fennie's history of non-violence and history of helping others in need. (PC-T. 505-514; 533-44) Both sisters testified that they were not asked about most of this information by the trial attorneys (PC-T. 520-27; 548).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel was functionally and constructively absent at critical stages in Mr. Fennie's trial in that he: failed to effectively question jurors on the issues of race and racial

tensions in the community; failed to request individual voir dire to ensure effective questioning of jurors on these issues; and, failed to request a change of venue due to the racially charged atmosphere in the community where the trial was held. Thus, trial counsel failed to protect Mr. Fennie's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to an impartial jury. The lower court erred in not finding that Mr. Fennie was entitled to a presumption of prejudice. <u>See United States v.</u> <u>Cronic</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2039 (1984)

II. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance during Mr. Fennie's penalty phase. Trial counsel failed to present available lay and expert testimony in mitigation. Trial counsel failed to call witnesses who could provide testimony consistent with their strategy of showing that Mr. Fennie's co-defendant was the actual trigger man. Trial counsel failed to present expert testimony consistent with their trial strategy, or consistent with the other mitigation presented. The lower court erred in denying relief.

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