IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALFRED LEWIS FENNIE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC01-2480 Lower Tribunal No. 91-756-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 801-0600

Facsimile: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

 $^{^{17}\}mbox{Again, it should be noted that at this time, Deborah would have been three or four years old.$

Kathy Reed also testified that her mother was abusive and beat her with an extension cord, hangers, boards, and a fan belt off a car. (PCT:512). Kathy did not specifically testify that she saw Appellant beaten with any of these items, but related the same incident as her sister. When Appellant urinated on his bed, Annie Fennie allegedly whipped him. (PCT:512). Kathy also related stories about life in the projects and Appellant's lack of relationship with his father. Kathy testified that the defense attorneys or investigator met with her at her house about three times and called almost every weekend. (PCT:519-20).

Even if this Court were to find that Appellant's counsel was deficient in failing to elicit this testimony from his family members, the bulk of this evidence was presented at Appellant's trial and found by the trial judge as mitigation. Thus, this Court should find that Appellant was not prejudiced by the failure to introduce this testimony at trial. Although the jury that unanimously recommended the death penalty did not hear evidence that Appellant was abused and perhaps whipped on one occasion when he wet his bed, this fact would not have changed the jury's verdict or his sentence of death. Furthermore,

 $^{^{18}}$ Deborah Fennie also met with the attorneys on at least one occasion. (PCT:547-48).

despite this alleged abuse, which by the sisters' own testimony was worse for them than for Appellant, the sisters, unlike Appellant, were law-abiding citizens that did not commit murder or any crimes when they were approximately thirty years old. While Appellant's siblings testified to some Appellant's troubled youth, Appellant was almost thirty years old at the time of trial, and thus, far removed in time from that period in his life. See Tompkins v. State, 193 F.3d 1327, 1337 (11th Cir. 1999) (finding no prejudice for counsel's failure to present evidence of physical abuse as a child where the Appellant was twenty-six at the time of the crime, noting that where a defendant is not young at the time of the offense "'evidence of a deprived and abusive childhood is entitled to little, if any, mitigating weight.") (quoting Francis v. <u>Dugger</u>, 908 F.2d 696, 703 (11th Cir. 1990)); Mills v. Singletary, 63 F.3d 999, 1025 (11th Cir. 1995)("We note that evidence of Mills' childhood environment likely would have carried little weight in light of the fact that Mills was twenty-six when he committed the crime."). In this case, the overwhelming evidence of the five aggravating factors would have clearly outweighed any of the additional proffered mitigation evidence presented at the postconviction evidentiary hearing.

Appellant also claims that defense counsel was ineffective

for failing to present the testimony of Pamela Colbert at the penalty phase. Appellant claims that she had valuable mitigation evidence because of her long-standing relationship with Appellant and she could impeach Michael Frazier's testimony that Appellant was the lone person to lead the victim into the woods and shoot her in the back of the head. This argument is without merit.

As both attorneys noted, they discussed calling Pamela Colbert as a witness at the guilt phase and had her counsel speak with her during Appellant's trial. Mr. Fanter also testified that he stayed on top of Ms. Colbert's status even after Appellant's trial began. (PCT:726). Pamela Colbert's attorney informed Appellant's counsel that she would do nothing for their defense and would simply send their client to the electric chair. (PCT:661). Appellant, however, claims that Colbert would have testified that both Appellant and Michael Frazier walked down the road into the woods and then she heard the fatal shot. Of course, Ms. Colbert gave a conflicting account to law enforcement officers and claimed that Appellant was the only person to walk with the victim into the woods and that Michael Frazier remained at the car with her when Appellant shot the victim. (PCT:466-470). Colbert reiterated this story during Appellant's trial when she was asked by her own attorney,

Chip Harp, on behalf of Mr. Fanter, if she would testify on behalf of Appellant. (PCT:726). Obviously, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to call a witness that would testify that Appellant was solely responsible for killing the victim. As the postconviction court properly noted, "Colbert's testimony was all over the place . . . she gave conflicting testimony as to who was the actual shooter. . . . Ms. Colbert was an unpredictable witness, and while if she said some things, her testimony might help Mr. Fennie to some extent; other testimony she might give could condemn him. No testimony ever given by Ms. Colbert was truly exculpatory." (PCR:3619-23).

With regard to counsel's failure to call Dwayne Jones, the State submits that counsel was not deficient for failing to call a felon with eighteen convictions to testify that he and Michael Frazier broke into a sheriff officer's home and stole a .357 magnum years before the murder. Despite his testimony to the contrary, it is highly unlikely that Mr. Jones would have confessed in open court in 1992 that he had committed an uncharged burglary and possession of a firearm offenses. (PCT:234-37). Furthermore, although Appellant's strategy was to blame Frazier for the murder, the fact that Frazier once possessed a .357 magnum was irrelevant to the instant case considering the overwhelming evidence that Appellant possessed

and utilized a .25 semiautomatic to murder Mary Shearin. Appellant was arrested driving the victim's car the day after the murder. When pulled over, Appellant was in possession of the murder weapon. Appellant was also seen in possession of the murder weapon only days before the murder. (R.1471, 1688-90). In denying this claim, the postconviction court found that Mr. Jones was not a credible witness and his testimony would not have substantially changed things enough to alter the outcome. (PCR:3625). Thus, given the unlikelihood of Mr. Jones admitting to these uncharged offenses and the irrelevance of his testimony, this Court should affirm the lower court's rejection of this claim.

Appellant also claims that the defense team should have called Dr. Martin, a local dentist who opined in a written report that the bite mark on Michael Frazier's hand was "consistent with Mr. Frazier's hand coming from behind Ms. Shearin in an upright position, being placed against her mouth." (PCT:646). Dr. Martin's opinion was not expressed in absolute terms and his testimony would not have necessarily contradicted Michael Frazier's testimony regarding the bite mark. (PCT:721-23). In short, Dr. Martin's testimony would not have established any fact that was not already known by the jury. Thus, counsel had no reason to call Dr. Martin and cannot be

found ineffective based on their failure to call him as a witness.

Appellant further argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to call an expert witness to testify to possible mitigation evidence. Prior to trial, Dr. Peal was appointed to perform a mental health evaluation of Appellant. provided a detailed report to the defense team, and the defense team discussed calling Dr. Peal as a witness. However, as Hugh Lee testified at the evidentiary hearing, counsel was scared to call Dr. Peal because of the statements Appellant made to him. (PCT:810). Dr. Peal acknowledged that Appellant gave numerous significant inconsistent statements regarding involvement in the crime. (PCT:275). The fact that Appellant lied about the crime constant theme in their was а representation of Appellant. Counsel noted that Appellant was a difficult client because he was a liar. (PCT:697, 703). Fanter testified that Appellant lied to him, lied to the police, and also lied to the court. (PCT:703). Thus, the fact that Appellant gave conflicting statements to Dr. Peal would not come as a surprise to counsel. The defense team also did not consider having another expert appointed to examine Appellant because with Dr. Peal's report and their own work with Appellant, the defense team could find no evidence of mental

health problems that would justify seeking a second expert's opinion. (PCT:815-16).

Clearly, Appellant's counsel conducted a reasonable investigation of mental mitigation when they hired Dr. Peal to evaluate Appellant for possible mitigating evidence and counsel provided Dr. Peal with Appellant's mother's telephone number so he would be able to obtain any necessary background information on Appellant. (PCT:248, 255). Based on Dr. Peal's evaluation of Appellant, defense counsel made the strategic decision not to present his testimony. The law is well established that when defense counsel conducts a reasonable investigation of mental health mitigation prior to trial and then makes a strategic decision not to present the information, counsel is not ineffective. Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2000) (stating that counsel was not ineffective for failing to present expert witness when doctor gave an unfavorable report and found defendant manipulative and deceptive); see also Jones v. State, 732 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1999); <u>Rose v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 291, 293-94 (Fla. 1993). Appellant argues that the defense team should have called an expert like Dr. Jethro Toomer to establish mitigation evidence. 19 The lower court discussed Drs. Peal and

 $^{^{19}\}text{Collateral}$ counsel states in a footnote that trial counsel failed to provide Appellant with competent psychiatric assistance pursuant to <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985).

Toomer's testimony in detail in his order and correctly noted that, the best they could have done, placing the evidence in a light most favorable to Appellant, is possibly show alleged traits of Appellant such as those for being subservient, nonviolent, and susceptible to duress. The lower court noted that these themes were touched on by the witnesses at Appellant's penalty phase and some of these traits were found as nonstatutory mitigators. Accordingly, the court noted, "it is highly speculative and conjectural as to whether, even had Dr. Toomer or a similar expert testified, it would have had any substantial effect on the outcome." (PCR:3628).

Even if this Court finds that Appellant has established that counsel was somehow deficient in his questioning of witnesses or in failing to call certain witnesses at the penalty phase, Appellant has failed to carry his burden under <u>Strickland</u> of establishing any prejudice. In following the jury's unanimous recommendation and sentencing Appellant to death, the trial judge found as mitigation, among other things, that Appellant came from a broken home, his father had little contact with him,

Amended Initial Brief of Appellant at 65 n.23. As the lower court properly noted in its order, Appellant never challenged the qualifications of Dr. Peal, the expert forensic psychologist who examined Appellant prior to trial. In fact, collateral counsel stipulated that he was an expert in forensic psychology. (PCT:262). Thus, as the lower court found, <u>Ake</u> does not apply. (PCR:3627).

that he grew up in the housing projects, and that he was not a nonviolent person. 20 Thus, much of the mitigation evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing from the lay witnesses was already considered by the trial judge and was cumulative. Even had Appellant presented the additional testimony of Pamela Colbert and Drs. Peal, Toomer, and Martin, the outcome of the penalty phase would have been the same. The jury in this case unanimously recommended the death penalty, and given the strength of the five aggravating factors, there is no possibility that Appellant would have received a life sentence. Appellant's trial counsel presented the best argument possible against the State's case, but as counsel noted, "we did our best, we just couldn't prevail over the facts in this case." (PCT:807). Because Appellant has failed to establish either prong of Strickland, this Court should deny the instant claim.

Collateral counsel claims that "[t]he overwhelming evidence developed and presented by postconviction counsel could not and would not have been ignored had it been presented to the

²⁰The court also found: (1) Appellant is the father of three children; (2) Appellant has some talent as an artist; (3) Appellant has paid child support to the mothers of his children when he could; (4) Appellant has counseled children about obeying their elders and about the perils of prison life and a life of crime; (5) Appellant spent time caring for his sister's children, including one who was handicapped; (6) Appellant has been a model prisoner in the eyes of the staff of the Hernando County Jail; and (7) Appellant is a human being.

sentencing judge and jury." Amended Initial Brief at 69. Contrary to counsel's grandiose and speculative claims, the State submits that the lower court properly concluded that almost all of the mitigation evidence presented in the postconviction proceeding was presented at Appellant's trial. The lower court considered the total mitigation evidence presented and compared it to the evidence presented at Appellant's trial and properly concluded that "there is little possibility that the defendant could have received a life sentence; and suggestions to the contrary by collateral defense counsel are merely speculative and conjectural." (PCR:3626-27). The court's detailed order is supported by substantial, competent evidence and should be affirmed by this Court.

Collateral counsel further urges this Court to review his ineffective claims cumulatively in order to justify a reversal of his convictions and death sentence. The State submits that none of Appellant's claims have merit. All of the alleged errors were, in fact, not erroneous. Because there was no individual error to consider, Appellant is not entitled to combine meritless issues together in an attempt to create a valid "cumulative error" claim. See Spencer v. State, 27 Fla.

L. Weekly S323 (Fla. Apr. 11, 2002) (denying defendant's claims that he was deprived of a fair trial by the cumulative errors

that occurred during his trial proceedings because claims of error are either procedurally barred or without merit); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2001) (finding no cumulative effect to consider where all claims were either meritless or procedurally barred); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that where allegations of individual error do not warrant relief, a cumulative error argument based thereon is without merit).

ISSUE III

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO INTERVIEW JURORS.

Appellant argues that the court denied him a full and fair evidentiary hearing because the court denied him the opportunity to interview the jurors. Appellant does not allege any specific juror misconduct, but simply speculates that the jurors may have been affected by the allegedly racial animosity in the community, by the interracial elements of the crime, or by the State's conduct at trial. Appellant's claim is procedurally barred and is also without merit.

Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) restricts an attorney from contacting jurors and only allows for such contact to those circumstances when an attorney can demonstrate to the trial judge that the attorney has reason to believe grounds for a legal challenge to the verdict exists. See Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-3.5(d)(4). In <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly 323, 328 (Fla. Apr. 11, 2002), this Court noted that the lower court concluded that claim relating properly а to the constitutionality of this rule was procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal. See also Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000) (stating that, even though lower court failed to address postconviction claim at all, this Court

would affirm denial of claim prohibiting jurors' interview because claim is procedurally barred because claim should and could have been raised on direct appeal); Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that postconviction claim regarding the constitutionality of rule which limits an attorney's right to interview jurors after the conclusion of trial was procedurally barred because not raised on direct appeal). Appellant failed to raise any issue on direct appeal relating to jury conduct and has therefore failed to preserve this issue.

Furthermore, this Court has long recognized the privacy and sanctity of jury deliberations. In <u>Cave v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 180, 187 (Fla. 1985), this Court stated:

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